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Introduction

This account of the history of schools in Wheathampstead and
Harpenden has been written by Elisabeth Field and Jane Harris. We
are grateful for the help of the members of the W.E.A. classes on the
Local History of the two parishes and of Lionel Munby, their tutor.
QOur information on pre-nineteenth century schools consists mainly of
brief references in various documents, drawn to our attention by
members of the classes who were working on them. Lieut. Col. J. H.
Busby, M.B.E., also contributed important information. Our chief
sources for Victorian schools were the log books which all school
heads had to keep after 1863, and we would particularly like to
thank Margaret Pankhurst for her work on the Wheathampstead log
books, and for collecting the earlier nineteenth century material, and
John Fisher for his work on the St. Nicholas School log books. We
are grateful to Mr. Roberts (Head of Manland School), Mr. Thomas
(Head of St. Nicholas) and Mr. Warner (Head of St. Helens), for
making the log books available. For background knowledge of the
educational system, and information on private schools, we have
drawn from a thesis by J. H. Smyth, ‘Education in Harpenden, A
Historical Survey 1850-1970". Several residents of Harpenden and
Wheathampstead have told us about their school days, and thereby
enabled us to put flesh on the otherwise dry bones of historical fact.
Most of the newer schools have been dealt with extremely briefly
through lack of space and some small schools have been omitted
entirely, in the hope that readers will find the more detailed accounts
of Victorian schools of greater interest.
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A Calendar of Important Events

Where the name of a school is given with no other comment, this is the
year in which the school opened.

1808-14 British Society founded.

1811
1815

1833
1850
1858
1861
1862

1865
1869
1870

1874
1875
1880

1887
1890

1891

1894
1895
1897
1898
1902

1903

1904
1906

1907

1919

National Society founded.
Wheathampstead National
School.

Government Grants began.
Harpenden British School.
Harpenden National School.
Newcastle Commission Report.
Revised Code - Payment by
Results. Wheathampstead
National School moved to new
buildings.

Harpenden National School
new building opened.

St. Mary’s, Kinsbourne Green.
Education Act establishing
School Boards able to levy
rates.

Bowling Alley School.

Gustard Wood School.
Mundella Act made School
attendance compulsory

up to 10.

Rev. R. H. Wix's St. George's
School moved to Harpenden.
St. Hilda's in Rothamsted ‘Av.
Act ended Fees in Board
Schools and payment

by results.

British School closed.
Harpenden Board School.
Victoria Road buildings.
Hardenwick moved.

Act made County Councils into
L.E.A.s, ended School Boards.
Gave help to Voluntary Schools
and provided for Secondary
Education.

County Council took over
Board School.

U.S.C. took over St. George’s.
National Schools renamed
Church of England Schools.

St. George's site rented by
Rev. Cecil Grant for his
Keswick Coeducational School.
St. Dominic’s—Bowers Cottage.

1924

1928
1931

1932
1933
1937
1939
1944

1946

1948

1950
1955

1956
1957
1964
1964

1965

1966

1967
1968
1969

1971

1975

St. Dominic's moved to
Harpenden Hall.

National Children’s Home.

St. Dominic’'s moved to
Welcombe.

Gustard Wood School closed.
Moreton End School founded.
Lea House School founded.
Manland Schools (opened).

Act defined Primary, Secondary
and Further Education, with
different forms of Secondary
Education. Board replaced by
Ministry of Education.

St. Dominic’s reorganised as
Primary School.

Lea House School moved to
Aldwickbury, changed name.

St. Mary’s Church School became
L.E.A. School.

Batford Primary School.

St. Mary's closed, Roundwood
Primary School opened.
Roundwood Secondary School.
Batford Infants School.

St. Dominic's new buildings.

St. John's (Bowling Alley) closed,
The Grove School opened.

St. George's became Grammar
School (Voluntary Aided), Wood
End Primary and Wheathampstead
Secondary Schools opened.
Hardenwick moved to
Sandridgebury. St. Nicholas
School new buildings opened.
Crabtree Lane Primary School.
Grove Infants School.

St. Helen's, Wheathampstead
Primary School opened.
Aldwickbury transferred to an
Educational Trust.

Beech Hyde Primary School,
Wheathampstead, and Crabtree
Infants’ School opened.

High Beeches J.M.L and The Lea
J.M.I. opened.




VI
THE SCHOOLS

Early Schools

The Victoria County History, published in 1908, says that
‘Educationally Hertfordshire has not in ancient or in modern times
been prolific of great results’. [VCH 11 p. 47]. This seems, to say the
least, a debatable statement; however, one result of education should
be the ability to read and write, and we find that over half the wills
made in Harpenden and Wheathampstead in the seventeenth century
were not signed: the testators made their mark. Wills were not made
by everybody; the poorest and lcast educated were least likely to
make wills. Less than a third of local people had achieved even a
first step towards literacy by learning to write their signatures. During
the Middle Ages it is probably safe to say that the clergy and
representatives of the Church were literate and also the leading
families like the Brockets, from whom County Sheriffs and Members
of Parliament were chosen. By the seventeenth century the large
landowners and people of influence in the community were newcomers
connected with the City of London or the Court. These were obviously
educated men. We know that Sir John Wittewronge studied at Trinity
College, Oxford, where he matriculated on 17 October 1634 and in
1637 he had a period of travel abroad. His father, Jacob, who fled
from Holland to London with his parents at the age of six, was
educated at the Free School in St. Albans before going on to
Magdalen College, Oxford.

PRIVATE SCHOOLS

Godman Jenkin of Blakesleys, who was baptised in 1657, was
educated at ‘a school in Harpenden then controlled by a Mr. Worting’.
This is the first reference we have to a school in the area. Joseph
Worting was curate at Harpenden from 1684-86. There are two other
references to schools in the seventeenth century. From the parish
register at Wheathampstead, the burial of Mrs. Mary Small from
The Place School was recorded in 1689. When The Old House in
Leyton Road changed hands in 1693 it was referred to as ‘a messuage
7. known by the name or signe of the Black Bull, now The
School House’. Early in the eighteenth century (1704-5) Thomas
Serrey (of Flamstead) is mentioned as a schoolmaster [Harpenden
Hall records]. It is difficult to gauge the educational standards of
the yeoman families of the time. If we look at the Carpenter family,
we find that George of Falcons End who died in 1571 leaving £837
did not sign his will, but his grandson Henry, a tailor, could sign
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his name for he witnessed his uncle’s will. Affabell Catlin was literate
for he was frequently employed making deathbed wills, witnessing
wills and taking inventories, but other Catlins appeared illiterate;
their wills were unsigned. Thomas Neale of Pollards was obviously
literate, for as well as signing his will, he left books worth £20.

The slender evidence we have from wills and militia lists appears
to indicate that by the end of the eighteenth century literacy may
have spread to more of the community. All except two of the con-
stables who prepared militia lists between 1758 and 1785 could
sign their name. These include men whose occupation is given as
cordwainer, butcher, farmer, grocer, tailor and yeoman. The new
type of marriage registers introduced after Lord Hardwicke’s Marriage
Act of 1753, required both brides and grooms to sign their names
or make their marks. These give a more gloomy picture; but there is
evidence that social convention may have inhibited some who could
sign their names, particularly women, from showing off.

Between 1715 and 1745 the house in Leyton Road known as
Bennets was leased to the Reverend George Barnard, who was curate
at Harpenden. In order to augment his income he instructed ‘the
sons of neighbours in his house’. His own son may have received a
good education here, for he later became headmaster and then
Provost of Eton. In the eighteenth century it was fairly common for
clergy to run a small school in this way. The militia lists show other
eighteenth century schools in the area. Recorded as schoolmaster in
some of the years covered by the lists are John Grover, Joseph
Cheworth, John Savory and Thomas Gregory; Thomas Gregory had
previously been the workhouse master. John Grover had an assistant
master, who was described in the lists as ‘usher to Mr. Grover’, and
in 1775 he advertised his school as ‘situated in a village which for
sweetness and salubrity of air, pleasantness of situation and rusticity
of prospect, can be excelled by few in the kingdom'. [Quoted in
Harpenden Hall by John Busby, p. 5].

A schoolmaster with an interesting sideline was William Dyce,
who was elected aletaster for Harpenden in 1793. This information
comes from the records of the Church Commissioners. From the same
source we know that there were two boarding schools in Harpenden
in 1799. One of these may have been the girls’ school run by Mrs.
Mercier at Welcombe. The school was in existence for some time,
though perhaps not occupying the same premises. A Victoire Rousseau,
‘Erench teacher at Mrs. Mercier's boarding school’, was buried in
1801. In the 1826 Directory Mrs. Mercier is listed as having a Ladies’
Academy and in 1839 (Pigots) there is an entry: Elizabeth Mercier,
Boarding School. The school must have closed shortly after this, for
in the 1843 Tithe Award, the occupier of site 561, a house on
Church Green is given as late Mercier. In 1818 a ‘Dissenting Grammar
School for Boys’ was opened at Blakesleys (Harpenden Hall) by the
Reverend Maurice Phillips, Harpenden’s first Congregational Minister
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who had been the first headmaster of Mill Hill School. In 1821 the
school had forty-four boys and four resident masters. On his death
in 1822 he was succeeded by the Reverend Solomon Leonard and the
school continued until 1839. Two other Harpenden boarding schools
are mentioned in the 1837 Directory, one run by John Smith and the
other by Phoebe Parrott. A further school, which appears in the 1851
Harpenden census, is a Juvenile Academy run by Mary Mercer Johnson,
aged twenty-four, at 11 Turnpike. The Report of a Select Committee
of the House of Commons on Education describes the local private
schools in 1833. Harpenden had ‘One Daily School (for children of
the poor) containing 37 males and 5 females; and — Three Boarding
Schools: at two of which are 40 males; and at the other 20 females;
in all the above Schools the instruction is at the expense of the
parents’. [H.C. 572 (1834) IX p. 360].

At Wheathampstead, as in Harpenden, there were several small
nineteenth century schools. The Directories of 1826 and 1839 list
the Reverend James Doulton, curate at Wheathampstead, as the
proprietor of a gentlemen’s boarding school; the school was on the
site. of Wheathampstead House. Mr. Doulton’s school was in the
news in January 1836 because of a fire in a shed on the school
premises. The County Press reported that ‘two pupils of the Rev.
Mr. Doulton had been playing with a small cannon near the shed,
and upon one of them discharging it, the match was blown from his
hand into the thatch, which immediately ignited’. Another clergyman
running a school was the Congregational Minister Reverend T. Gilbert
who ‘had exerted himself to open a school in which children received
an unsectarian education. This school was in a prosperous state, and
its beneficial result had already become conspicuous’. [Hertford
Mercury, 5 September 1846]. In 1847 Gilbert moved to Highworth,
Wiltshire, where he started a British School. We have no further
record of his Wheathampstead school. The Directories show other
schools: in 1837 George Gifkins was running a boys’ day school,
and from 1845-1882 Eliza and Fanny Hooker were running a ladies’
school; Eliza apparently combined her rdle as ladies’ schoolmistress
with that of licensee of the Bull Inn! In 1851 and 1855 William
Trustrum, an agent to the Hope Mutual Life Office, was running a
boys’ school, which was situated at old Marford and had eleven
boarders at the time of the 1851 census. From 1851 until 1878 a
ladies’ boarding school was run by Hephzibah and Jane Wynter; this
school was carried on by Hephzibah alone until 1895. A short-lived
preparatory school, run by Edward Edwards, seems to have existed
at Marford from 1859 to 1862. The 1833 Select Committee report
lists three private ‘daily schools’ in Wheathampstead: in one
‘(commenced 1822) are 5 males and 20 females; the other two
(commenced 1829) contain 28 males and 11 females: . . . the
children are instructed at the expense of their parents’. [H.C. 572
(1834) IX p. 368].
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SUNDAY SCHOOLS

One of the most important educational developments of the late
cighteenth century was the foundation and rapid growth of the
Sunday School movement. In Sunday schools the ‘children of the
poor’ were taught reading and writing as well as the Scriptures, and
there were no fees. In 1800 the Rev. John Ord established a Sunday
School at Wheathampstead and in 1802 John Bennet Lawes gave a
cottage near the Church in Harpenden for a Sunday School. The rules
of the Wheathampstead Sunday School merit quotation in full; the
text is in Appendix Ten.

Thirty subscribers gave £15 13s. 2d. in the year, and the rector’s
father, the Reverend John Ord, gave twenty testaments and twenty
prayer books.

A government enquiry in 1819 elicited the information that in
Harpenden there was ‘a Sunday school, supported by voluntary con-
tributions, in which about 70 children are instructed’. There was no
other endowment for education but ‘the poor are desirous of having
the means of instruction’. The statement was signed by the curate
James Jenkyn. The rector, the Reverend G. T. Pretyman, made the
Wheathampstead return. There was no mention of the Sunday School,
but there was ‘a national school, built in 1814, supported by voluntary
contribution, in which from 80 to 100 children usually attend. The
poor are satisfied with the education afforded them at the National
School’. [Digest of Parochial Returns to the Select Committee on the
Education of the Lower Orders. H.C. (1819) IXA, pp. 355 and 363].

A later report revealed that there had been considerable progress
in the years 1819 to 1833. There were, in 1833, three Sunday schools
in Harpenden: ‘at one whereof, are 40 males and 70 females, who
attend the Established Church; the mistress receives a salary of
£8 8s. per annum; another appertaining to Wesleyan Methodists,
consists of 72 males and 67 females, the other to Independents
(commenced 1819) of 22 males and 37 females: the above Schools
are supported by subscription, and the two last mentioned have small
lending libraries attached; there is also a lending library for the use
of the parishioners generally, kept in the vestry of the Church’.
Wheathampstead, we are told, in the same stilted but informative
language, had ‘Two Sunday Schools in one whereof are 30 males and
50 females who attend the Established Church; the other consists of
23 males and 22 females, and appertains to Methodists: in both
Schools the children are taught gratuitously. There is a lending library
at the Church, furnished by the Rector’. [H.C. 572 (1834) IX pp. 360
and 368].
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Voluntary Schools

In the early nineteenth century two rival school societies were
founded which aimed to give daily education to many children as
cheaply as possible. Joseph Lancaster, a Nonconformist, had developed
a system whereby he could teach up to 500 pupils by using monitors
chosen from among the pupils. In 1808 he founded what became, in
1814. the British and Foreign Schools Society, usually referred to as
the British Society. He was also responsible for the use of slates in
Victorian schools. An Anglican, the Reverend Andrew Bell, had earlier
experimented on similar lines in Madras, and on his return to Britain
' founded the National Society for Promoting the Education of the

Poor in the Principles of the Established Church, otherwise known as
the National Society.

WHEATHAMPSTEAD NATIONAL SCHOOL

The earliest National Schoo! in the two parishes was on
Wheathampstead Hill. It is listed in The English School — Its
Architecture and Organisation; built at a cost of £183, the building
(36" x 15") was intended to hold one hundred scholars. The money
was raised by donations, which amounted to £106 10s. 0d., and by
public subscription. Local people agreed to make an annual con-
tribution; this amounted to £63 in 1815. Every annual subscriber of
£2 or more was appointed a member of the committee ‘to superintend
all transactions, relative to the National School. This committee
appointed a five man ‘special committee’ to superintend the building
and fitting up of the school room. The Reverend G. T. Pretyman and
Drake Garrard, Esq., were elected Presidents of the general committee.
From early minutes we learn that ‘It was unanimously resolved that
none but the Cottagers’ children be admitted into the School, unless
upon proper application being made to a subscriber for the admission
of a child of any other description, it should appear to a majority of
the Committee that the child is a proper object of this charity, in
which case the Committee shall have the power of electing them.
No child shall be admitted into the school without being recommended
by a subscriber and having its appointment sanctioned by the
Committee’.

The accounts for 1815 show where some of the money went:
Aug. 3rd pd Dunham bricklayer on his account £40. 0. 0

Aug. 19th pd Dunham remainder of bill ... ... £20. 6. 2
Aug. 20th pd Latter of Hertford a draft on
National Society ... ... ... ... £50.0.0
Sept. 23rd pd Latter remainder of his bil
including Stone Mason’s account ... £29. 7. 3
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Expenses for levelling the ground:

pd Slow a week’s work at 2/6 per day 15..0
pd Hedges 3 weeks’ work
at 2/6 per day £2. 5.0
pd Croft 2 weeks’ work at 2/6 per day £1.10. 0
Oct. 29th A stamp 3d., paper, ink and pencils ... 7 2
Nov. 11th Coals and wood ... . . 11::0

Dec. 24th pd Miss Dixon a gqrs. salary from
Michaelmas to Christmas with her
expenses to and from London ... £12. 2. 0
Several accounts were obviously held over until 1816 for payment,
presumably after the second annual contributions had been made:

Jan. 16th pd Kilby's bill for forms ... ... ... £17.18. 9
Feb. 10th pd Mr. Parrott for erecting 2 privies £5. 7. 6
Mar. 29th pd the plumbers’ bill ... ... ... ... £E7.14 6
pd Gutteridge of St. Albans for 2 stoves
far Sohool: sve  mes e s ssw  EO. Bi 0
pd Baker at the Bull for beer while the
men were digging at the school ... 7. 6

That the school was successful is made clear by the Commons
report in 1833: it contained ‘50 children of each sex, and is supported
by annual subscription’. As log books were not kept until after 1863,
the account books and newspapers are the only sources available from
which to get a flavour of life in the school before 1863. For instance,
in March 1818. the accounts show that a dinner was given for eighty
children. The bill for the food totalled £3.8s.10d., including 12s.8d.
for 19 1bs. of beef!

A newspaper report of 1846 shows that there was some ill-feeling
over the way the National School was being run, under the guidance
of the rector, Canon Pretyman. The Reverend T. Gilbert stated that
his reason for opening a school (p. 235) was that ‘At the village in
which he lived, there existed a “National School”, which, however,
was closed against all who would not consent for their children to
learn the Church Catechism, and attend at the Established place of
worship on the Sunday’. By 1855, however, many parents must have
been satisfied with the running of the National School, for another
newspaper reports on a school treat:

On Wednesday last the Reverend G. T. Pretyman gave his

Annual Treat to the National Day and Sunday School children.

113 boys and 72 girls partook of an abundant supply of plum

cake and tea in the school room, followed by cricket, kite flying

and foot races in a meadow near the Rectory. The amusements
terminated at 8 o’clock by the ascent of three fire balloons and

singing the National Anthem. [Herts Advertiser, 21 July 1855].

Canon Davys described the old National School building as it
was in its last days: ‘a long, low building . . . The floors were brick
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and the fittings poor and shabby, the most conspicuous piece of
furniture there being a wooden armchair with a footboard, which was
always hurriedly brought forward whenever a visitor entered the
school, the climb up Wheathampstead Hill being supposed to bring
on a dangerous attack of exhaustion’. [A Long Life’s Journey, p- 60].
After it was pulled down the site was used as a drill and playground
until it was sold in 1899; and the Wick playing field was bought.

By the 1860s the old school on the Hill had clearly become
inadequate, for it was built to hold only 100 pupils. On 16 April 1862
the foundation stone for a mew school, at Bury Green, was laid by
Mrs. Drake Garrard of Lamer, and the ceremony was followed by a
church service, the sermon being preached by the headmaster of
Harrow: over £65 was collected towards the Building Fund. The
architect for the new school was a Mr. Browning, and Mr. Edward
Jones of St. Albans was the contractor. His tender was for £919 and
his work was praised by the architect, for it ‘had been executed under
considerable pecuniary difficulty’. The building had three rooms, one
of them for the infants, and was financed, like the old one, by
donations and subscriptions, but this time Government aid was also
forthcoming. The school was insured for £500. Mr. C. B. Drake
Garrard of Lamer donated £200 and the Bishop of Peterborough, the
Patron, £50. As in 1815 the larger subscribers were to be appointed
members of the Management or Building Committees. The children
assembled for the first time in the new school on 29 December 1862.
At a public dedication by the Bishop of Rochester, on 20 January 1863,
a further £95 was collected. The handsome building, well-loved by
most Wheathampstead people today, was in use as a school until
1969: it has now been given a new lease of life (Plate 25).

HARPENDEN BRITISH SCHOOL

Harpenden lagged behind Wheathampstead; the British School
was opened in 1850, and the National School in 1858. In 1847 a
meeting was held to consider the setting up of a school, as a result
of which a letter was circulated (see Appendix Eleven); it listed the
principles of the British and Foreign Schools Society, which were:

I That in all schools established in connection with or assisted
by the British and Foreign School Society the sacred
scriptures in the authorised version or extracts therefrom
shall be read and taught daily.

I That no catechism or other formulary peculiar to any
religious denomination shall be introduced or taught during
the usual hours of school instruction.

III That every child attending the day school shall be expected
to attend the particular Sabbath School or Place of Worship
which its parents prefer. [Parish papers in Harpenden Hall].
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Early in 1848 the site, ‘the waste between Mr. Baileys and the
Old Chapel, fronting to the footpath and running back to Mr. Lawes’s
field” was obtained; the land being given in trust by John Bennet
Lawes. The original proposal for a school accommodating 300 children
proved to be too ambitious, the subscriptions not reaching the required
amount, and so a smaller school was resolved upon. The contract
went to Mr. Trustram; the total cost of £468 was met by a government
grant of £105 and subscriptions amounting to £363. The school, now
the front part of Park Hall in Leyton Road (Plate 26a), opened in
May 1850; it had two rooms, one for boys and one for girls each
capable of containing about eighty scholars. Mr. Melville was in charge
of the boys and Miss Hayward of the girls. The average attendance
during the first year was sixty-seven boys and fifty-five girls.

A report on the ‘Social Conditions of Harpenden® in 1858
describes the school as ‘valuable’, ‘replete with everything essential
to secure a sound Education’. W. L. Rogers, who prepared the report
for John Bennet Lawes, thought the headmaster a ‘Superior man’ but
found him ‘greatly discourag’d by reason of the positive indifference
of so many of the Parents . . . This is not confined to the poor
but many decent families such as Farmers'. At the time of the report
the average number of children (girls and boys) attending the school
was 156. W. L. Rogers considered this a very low number from a
population of nearly 2,000 and thought it indicated how little
education was appreciated in Harpenden. School at that time was
not compulsory, of course. In the year in which this report was made
an infants’ school was added to the British School. It opened in a
temporary building on 4 August 1858, and moved into its new
premises (later the Fire Station) in January 1859. The school was
erected by Lawes at his own expense on his own land “there being a
demand for yet further school accommodation’ and lent to the school
managers [Col. Durnford. Origins, History and present position of
the schools. 1891]. The fittings for the school were provided by
donations. In 1871 it was amalgamated with the Boys’ and Girls’
British School and brought under one management.

The Harpenden British School building was subject to various
alterations over the years. A gallery was a usual feature of schools
built in the nineteenth century; consisting of tiers, it enabled the
teacher to see all the pupils more easily. At the British School a
loghook tells of the collapse of the gallery in the girls’ schoolroom in
June 1864: ‘Today a most remarkable casualty has occurred —a
great many children were working as usual on the gallery this after-
noon, when all at once hearing a noise I turned round just in time
to see the gallery giving way and the children being precipitated to
the ground. One little girl had her leg bruised, with this exception
all escaped injury.” The gallery must have been repaired, for in 1876
it was removed. In September 1866 the girls’ school room was made
smaller because of the low number of girls attending the school and
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the extra space was given (o the boys (see p. 244). While the
alterations were taking place the girls were moved to the Clubroom,
Garden Fields. In May 1871 the boys’ school was enlarged further so
as to make room for another group of desks, the cost being met by
John Bennet Lawes. The number of girls attending increased and by
1879 their room was far too small, and an additional classroom was
built for them. John Bennet Lawes gave the land, and his sister, Mrs.
Warde, supplied most of the money required. The school was
apparently heated by a stove which was assembled in October, and
tnken down in April. Fires were not necessarily started immediately
the stove was assembled, but in April it was a matter of fine
d judgement as to when the stove should be dismantled. After being
caught out by a cold spring in 1866 Miss Fleming, the girls’ mistress,
had the stove left intact until May.

HARPENDEN NATIONAL SCHOOL

The National School opened in the same year as the British
[nfants’ School, 1858. The school started in cottages on the same site
as the old Sunday School. It used the cottages until July 1864 when
it was rebuilt in the same area; it became eventually St. Nicholas
Church of England Primary School (Plate 31a). When the National
School opened, an existing small school in a cottage nearby, run
by a Mrs. Whitehouse, was clearly going to suffer. To avoid this,
Mr. Lydekker of Harpenden Lodge provided Mrs. Whitehouse with
stationery, pencils and string with which to start a shop instead,
thus founding the well-known Harpenden newsagents and stationery
shop. While the National School was rebuilding, a clubroom at the
back of the Red Lion (72 High Street) was used as a classroom. The
freehold of the new piece of land as well as that on which the old
schoolroom stood was handed over (o the School Managers by John
Bennet Lawes.

The new building, opened on 2 January 1865, consisted of one
main room with a room off it for the infants. The schoolmistress in
charge of the school in its early days was Miss Jane Grey. She is
recorded in the 1861 census, aged twenty-one, as a boarder at a
house in Sun Lane. Although there was only one room, it seems from
the log book that there were four separate classes for children over
six. Perhaps this was one reason for having a gallery. The National
School, like the British School, certainly had one in 1876. Two log
book entries read: ‘12.5.76. Gallery removed from the end of the
school, a great improvement’ and “19.5.76. Last Saturday Gallery in
the classroom extended, improving the room very much’.

John Bennet Lawes obviously played a large part in the setting
up of both the British and National Schools in Harpenden. He was a
member of the Church of England, and H. Addington, one of the
signatories of the 1847 letter asking for support for a British School,
was the curate at Harpenden. SO it is surprising that the British
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School was established first. Local feelings about Canon Pretyman
may have played a part (see pp. 118-119), but in any case Lawes
was broadminded for his time: ‘in religion, although firmly and
thoroughly believing in the truth of the Christian Religion and (ready)
to accept it as the guide of my life as far as I can understand it and
being at the same time a regular attendant at the services of the
Church of England, still 1 cannot admit to the right of that church
or of any other church to teach dogmatically what truths are necessary
for my salvation’. [Diane: A Victorian. Macdonald Hastings].

PLAITING SCHOOLS

There may have been competition between British and National
Schools, but they both faced a more serious competitor in the plaiting
schools. By the beginning of the nineteenth century the hat industry
had been long established in the South-East Midlands. Hats were
made from straw plait produced by people working at home. Since
the money earned by a wife and children in plaiting could equal the
earnings of an agricultural labourer, full-time attendance at a proper
school could mean a substantial drop in the family earnings. Plaiting
was mainly a female occupation, though boys were taught and went
to plaiting schools until they were old enough to do farm work.

Numbers of children are sent to what is called ‘Plaiting

Schools’. There they pretend to combine Instruction with plaiting.

This is a mere sham. The great aim appears to be ‘what they can

earn’. It was really painful to witness so many children of such

tender years sitting close packed in heated rooms superintended
by a Female urging them on in their work. It was to me
surprising how cleverly their little nimble fingers twisted and
plaited the slender straws moistening them with their little lips

— To confine children so young and so many hours without that

cheerful healthful recreation so suited and needful for their years

I felt was cruel. I had with many of the Parents much serious

converse over The evils of the system -— The permanent injury

done to themselves and children in depriving them of that
invaluable Treasure — Education — The indifference of many was
surprising — Everywhere the Answer was the same ‘We can’t
help it Sir they must do it or we could not support them’. The
children earn from 2/- to 5/- weekly and sometimes more (the

Parents assured me). [W. L. Rogers’ 1858 report].

From Ellen Vaughan’s Thirty-three Years at Harpenden we know
that Betsy Crane of Stakers Lane, Mrs. Bruton of Church Green, and
Mrs. Farr of Kinsbourne Green were popular plaiting mistresses. Edwin
Grey in Cottage Life in a Hertfordshire Village adds more: at Betsy
Crane’s school there was ‘a little time given to reading or learning
to read a verse or two from the Old Testament, then plaiting’. He
also describes the interior of a plaiting school: ‘Low forms arranged
round three sides of the room were the usual seating accommodation,
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the schoolroom being “lighted up” on winter evenings by a single
tallow candle or a rush light . . . no account being taken of the
overcrowding or the closeness of the room’. The fee for the tuition
was 1d. or 2d. per week. Edwin Grey knew of no school where writing
or arithmetic were taught ‘probably for the simple reason that these
old ladies knew nothing of it themselves’. (pp. 72-3). We have no
information about such schools in Wheathampstead. Plaiting schools
. appear to have survived until the 1870’s.

LITERACY, SCHOOL ATTENDANCE, AND NEW SCHOOLS

It is precisely at this time that the evidence for a definite increase
in local literacy appears. The following chart shows how the per-
centages of men and women not able to sign their names in
Wheathampstead's Marriage Register changed between the decades
1800—09 and 1890-99.
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In the Harpenden marriage registers for 1813 to 1837, about
two-thirds of those martrying did not sign their names. The Registrar
General reported that 509, of the men and 56%, of the women who
were married in Hertfordshire in 1841 only made a mark. Hertford-
shire was, then, one of the worst educated counties in the country.
The census returns for the two villages give an idea of how many
children were attending a school of sorts for the years of 1851, 1861
and 1871, the years for which census returns are available. At
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Wheathampstead in 1851 58%, of the boys aged five to thirteen and
40%, of the girls are described as scholars. By 1861 these figures
were respectively 61%, and 629, but by 1871 the percentage of girls
described as scholars had dropped to 54. In Harpenden in 1861 62%
of the boys were described as scholars, but only 46°%, of the girls.
The existence of plaiting as an occupation in the district was mainly
to blame for this low figure; in the 1861 census return for Harpenden,
forty-three girls of thirteen and under were described as plaiters, and
eight as bonnet sewers.

Children first went to school when very young. The 1851 and
1861 Wheathampstead census returns show that many children began
school at four years old; by 1871 the starting age had dropped to
three, especially for the boys. In each of the three years at least two
children attended school at the age of two. Children seem to have
started school even earlier in Harpenden: in 1861 three seems to have
been the starting age, but fifteen two-year-olds and one girl aged one
were ‘scholars’! School attendance reached a peak at seven or eight
years, but declined sharply after the age of ten, the boys mainly
becoming agricultural labourers. It is remarkable how few girls were
employed as domestic servants; only two were in Harpenden in 1861.

There are signs that school attendance was improving substan-
tially in the 1860s and 1870s and this would explain the great
increases in the numbers of both sexes signing their names when
marrying, in the decades 1870-9 and 1880-9 (see chart p. 243).
The new Wheathampstead National School opened with 100 children
in the main school and fifty infants. By the 1870s these numbers had
increased to about 120 older children and seventy infants. The
numbers dropped slightly when Gustard Wood School opened in
1875, with an average attendance of just over sixty children during
the first year.

The number of boys at the British School continued to rise
steadily. In contrast the attendance figures for the girls’ school vary
considerably. In 1863 the Inspector wrote: ‘there are so few girls in
attendance that the state of their instruction is hardly an adequate
test of the teacher’s energy or perseverance’. The attendance did not
improve and by 1866 the situation was critical; the Inspector’s report
for that year stated: ‘It may be doubted whether the numbers are
such as to make it worthwhile to continue this as a separate school.
In 1867 he reported: ‘The girls in the neighbourhood are kept away
for straw plaiting’. It was in 1866 that the girls’ classroom was
red